From: Stringer, Jennifer

To: Aarti Kaushal

Subject: RE: EPR/NP3699ZH/V005 - Former Mearclough House
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Hi Aarti

I have spoken with the applicant and they have confirmed that the fragmentiser fluff
they will receive will have been subject to metals recovery at the producers site i.e.
before it arrives at the Mearclough facility. The site will primarily seek to recover the
plastics from the fluff fraction. On this basis | do not think a metals recycling activity
is appropriate for this site.

The site will receive both non-hazardous and hazardous waste which will all be
subject to treatment.

| attach an updated NTS removing acknowledging that the facility will not operate as
a waste transfer station. | have therefore also renamed the facility Mearclough Road
Waste Treatment Facility.

Regards

Jennifer

Jennifer Stringer
She/Her

Technical Director

6-7 Lovers Walk,
Brighton, East Sussex,

BN1 6AH, United Kingdom
T +44 (0)1273 546 800
D +44 (0)1273 546 829

M +44 (0)7920 235499
E @rps.tetratech.com

Follow us on: rpsgroup.com | LinkedIn | Eacebook | Instagram

You might notice we look a little different.
We’re rebranding to Tetra Tech in March 2026.
Click here to learn more

From: Aarti Kaushal <Aarti.Kaushall@environment-agency.gov.uk>
Sent: 22 October 2025 17:21

To: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>
Subject: RE: EPR/NP36997H/V005 - Former Mearclough House
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[bookmark: _Toc16497100][bookmark: _Toc16497179][bookmark: _Toc38017419][bookmark: _Toc190879885][bookmark: _Toc16497101][bookmark: _Toc16497180][bookmark: _Toc535830605][bookmark: _Toc535914844][bookmark: _Toc177437][bookmark: _Toc217035][bookmark: _Toc218320][bookmark: _Toc218409][bookmark: _Toc219027][bookmark: _Toc279087]NON-TECHNICAL summary

[bookmark: _Toc38017420]Introduction

[bookmark: _Ref161301942]This document and associated appendices form the application to vary an Environmental Permit (EP) EPR/NP3699ZH under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2016 (as amended)[footnoteRef:2]. The application is made by Ellete Waste Limited which is the legal entity that will be responsible for operating the waste facility.  At the time of this application being made, the permit holder is Calder Valley Skip Hire Limited (company number 03861770).  An application to transfer the permit from Calder Valley Skip Hire Limited to Ellete Waste Limited was submitted to the Environment Agency on 3rd October 2024. Preapplication advice provided by the Environment Agency advised that this variation application is made in the new operator name.  [2:  https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2016/1154/contents/made] 


[bookmark: _Hlk149897441]The waste facility is located at the former Mearclough House, Mearclough Road, Sowerby Bridge, Halifax, HX6 3LF.  Whilst a permit has remained in place at the Mearclough site, waste transfer station (WTS) operations under the permit have been dormant since 2003.  



[bookmark: _Hlk149899025][bookmark: _Hlk153783738][bookmark: _Hlk176509933]Permit EPR/NP3699ZH includes for the operation of a household, commercial and industrial WTS, without treatment, with a capacity of 5,000 tonnes of waste per year.  This variation seeks to make the following changes to the permit:



an increase the permitted capacity of waste that can be accepted to 100,000 tonnes per year. No more than 274 tonnes per day will be accepted at the facility. The amount of waste which can be stored at any one time will increase from 200m3 to 300m3.The permit boundary will also not change as a result of the proposed changes,

mechanical treatment activities which include sorting by use of a rotary screener (trommel),

new waste codes for hazardous and non-hazardous metal shredder residues, known as fragmentisation fluff, or frag fluff, to be accepted under non-hazardous EWC codes 19 10 04 and 19 10 06 and 19 10 03* and 19 10 05* for hazardous fragmentisation fluff and 19 12 12 for waste from mechanical treatment of wastes,

[bookmark: _Hlk180866516][bookmark: _Hlk179184564]the sorting by hand and by mechanical means of fragmentisation fluff waste to separate plastic and metal form the waste.  The residual fluff is combined with mixed general wastes,

removal of WTS activities so that only waste storage and treatment activities remain.  All waste delivered to the site will be treated.

Fines and residual fluff that are deemed non-hazardous will be mixed with general waste.  The combined quantity of the hazardous waste that may be stored will be less than 50 tonnes at any one time.  A dust management plan has been produced for the site and can be found in Appendix I of this application.

Separate storage of the hazardous waste is provided within a concrete bay to ensure hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are not combined.  

The proposed environmental risks associated with the above changes have been assessed. There are no process emissions to land, air, water or sewer from the facility and this is remaining unchanged with the variation application. The results of the environmental risk assessment (ERA) are presented in Appendix C and show that the risk of odour, noise and vibration, fugitive emissions, and accidents range from ‘not significant’ to ‘low’.

A noise assessment has been undertaken and is included in Appendix E. The assessment also considered noise the additional vehicle movements from the increased input of waste. The noise assessment concluded that the revised operations will not cause a significant adverse noise impact.

A fire prevention plan (FPP) has been produced as part of this variation application and is in Appendix F. The FPP sets out the current measures that are in place at the site, and addresses the proposed changes, to minimise the risk of a fire starting and to ensure that should a fire occur appropriate measures are in place so that it is identified and managed effectively.

As a result of this variation, changes to the permit are required as follows:

Increased in annual throughput of wastes to 100,000 tonnes per annum,

Increase the amount of waste which can be stored at any one time to 300m3.

Addition of treatment activities including screening, 

Addition of wastes accepted at the facility to include fluff fractions from shredding of metal waste activities and waste from mechanical treatment of wastes,

Revised site plan as shown on Drawing 1 in Appendix B.

Removal of waste transfer station activities so that only waste storage and treatment activities remain.

Site Location

[bookmark: _Hlk153785533]The site is located off Mearclough Road with the River Calder, an industrial area, Wakefield Road (A6026) and residential properties to the north. To the east of the site are Milner Royd nature reserve, Rochdale Canal and Copley Valley Green Corridor local wildlife sites to the east.   A railway line running from Sowerby Station, west of the site, runs south of the site, beyond which are a few residential properties at Tall Trees Farm, Fall Lane.  To the west lies woodland, beyond this are industrial units and sports facilities on Holmes Road.

The site is not located in a DEFRA Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). The nearest AQMA is adjacent to West Mills, West Street, Sowerby Bridge and extending along Town Hall Street and Wharf Street and ending in Upper Bolton Brow on Pye Nest Road and on Wakefield Road in Bolton Brow in Sowerby Bridge, approximately 140 m from the proposed facility. This area, according to Calderdale Metropolitan Borough Council (CMBC), has been designated under Section 83 Environment Act 1995 due in part to a known exceedance of the annual mean air quality objective for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) as specified in the Air Quality Regulations 2000. It was also in part due to modelled evidence of a likely exceedance of that value.

Operations

[bookmark: _Hlk179185290]The site is currently a permitted waste operation, and the proposed changes will not alter this.  The activities are below the thresholds of installation activities within Part 2 of Schedule 1 and so the activities will remain as a waste operation.  The main activity undertaken at the site will be the storage and treatment of both non-hazardous and hazardous wastes; D15 (storage pending any of the operations numbered D1 to D14) and R13 (storage of waste pending any of the operations numbered R1 to R12).  Waste streams will be sourced from local waste recycling operations. 

[bookmark: _Hlk176510537]Mixed general waste and waste from mechanical treatment of wastes will be tipped within a concrete walled bay inside the waste reception building.  A separate concrete bay is used for the receipt of metal shredder fragmentiser fluff waste.  It is anticipated that all fragmentiser fluff will be received under the hazardous waste code. In the event fragmentiser fluff is to be accepted under the non-hazardous waste codes, evidence to support the non-hazardous classification will need to be provided.  Fragmentiser fluff received at the facility will have been subject to metals removal at the sites of production and therefore the metal content of the fragmentiser fluff will be low.

Treatment activities are carried out by a trommel followed by a manual picking station.  Metal and plastics waste will be placed into dedicated skips which are inside the waste reception building. Residual fluff and fines that are deemed non-hazardous will be mixed with general waste. 

It is proposed to carry out the WM3 testing on the metal shredder fines every 500 tonnes of waste accepted.  The combined quantity of the hazardous waste that may be stored will be less than 50 tonnes at any one time.  In the event that the WM3 test determines that any fraction remains hazardous it will remain segregated in the metal skip for bulking pending onward transport for appropriate recycling/processing or disposal. 

Separate storage bays for general waste (non-hazardous) and metal shredder fines (hazardous), is provided by two concrete bays to ensure hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are not combined.

Once waste has been treated, the residual waste will be returned to the general waste bay, which will have been emptied to accommodate the treated waste.  Inert wastes will be moved by the mechanical shovel into a separate external storage bay.  Once the bays have reached full capacity, the waste will be removed from the site and sent to a permitted recycling facility.  Recyclable wastes are stored inside covered skips inside the building.

Bulked up waste will be sent onwards to waste recycling facilities for recovery.  

Management of Activities

An approved Working Plan is in place for the facility and EWL will operate in accordance with that.  EWL will work towards having an environmental management system (EMS) in place at the facility. The EMS will include those documented systems required by the Environmental Permit to identify and minimise risks of pollution including those from operations, maintenance, accidents, incidents and non-conformances; site closure and risks drawn to the attention of the operator as a result of complaint.  It will also document how EWL will ensure the facility is managed using sufficient competent persons and resources and to the requirements of relevant Environment Agency guidance documents;

[bookmark: _Ref152596411]Non-hazardous and inert waste: appropriate measures for permitted facilities[footnoteRef:3]. [3:  Non-hazardous and inert waste: appropriate measures for permitted facilities - Guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)] 


Guidance for the Recovery and Disposal of Hazardous and Non Hazardous Waste[footnoteRef:4].  Although the facility is below the threshold of EPR Schedule 1 Part A activities. [4:  Guidance for the Recovery and Disposal of Hazardous and Non Hazardous Waste] 


The EMS will ensure that:

The risks that the activities pose to the environment are identified;

The measures that are required to minimise the risks are identified;

The activities are managed in accordance with the management system;

Performance against the management system is audited at regular intervals; and

The environmental permit is complied with.

The management system will be reviewed at least once every four years or sooner where there is a significant change to the activities, or in the event of recommendations arising from investigations of accidents, incidents, emergencies or other non-compliances. 

Energy Efficiency

Where relevant, operating procedures will include details of techniques to promote efficient operation.  Maintenance and housekeeping measures will be developed as part of the preventative maintenance system. This will include details of the measures specifically aimed at maintaining the efficiency of the facility during its operational life.  

During the operational life of the facility, energy use will be monitored and recorded. Periodically, usage will be reviewed to identify areas for improvement and ensure that any abnormal increase in energy use is investigated and appropriate action taken to resolve the issue.  Any areas where improvements are identified will be incorporated within the energy efficiency plan for the site. This plan will be incorporated within the EMS to ensure that it is regularly reviewed and maintained up to date with future technology developments.

[bookmark: _Toc535930751]Raw Materials, Water and Waste

The main raw materials for the waste operations will be diesel fuel for plant and machinery.  Potable water will also be used for dampening the external surfaces during dry and dusty periods.

[bookmark: _Toc535930752]Emissions to Air

There are no point source emissions to air.

Emissions to Surface Water

There are no point source emissions to waters.

Emissions to Sewer, Effluent Treatment Plants or Other Transfers off Site

Site surface water flows to a silt trap and oil separator before discharging into the foul sewer in Mearclough Road.  The drainage gullies serving the external waste bays flow to a silt trap before discharging via the same point as the surface water.  

This discharge is authorised by the sewerage undertaker and is not regulated by the environmental permit.

Emissions to Land

There are no point source emissions to land.

Fugitive Emissions

Fugitive emissions are assessed in the environmental risk assessment in Appendix C. This details the potential emissions and management controls in place. The management systems in place at the facility to ensure that the risk from fugitive emissions is minimised, for example through regular inspection of waste storage areas, volumes of waste and correct management of the facility. 

The ERA details the potential emissions and management controls in place. The risk from fugitive emissions is considered to be “low” to “very low”.

Odour 

The Environmental Risk Assessment in Appendix C has identified the risk of odour release from the operation as low.

 Noise and Vibration

The risk of noise impacts from the updated operations has been assessed within the Noise Impact Assessment. This has concluded that the risk to local receptors is not significant. Noise emissions from the facility would not be of a magnitude sufficient to give reasonable cause for annoyance, and a high general level of protection of the environment as a whole is provided.  The overall risk has been assessed as “low impact”.   However, a Noise Management Plan has been produced to support this application.

The Noise Impact Assessment and the Noise Management Plan have been placed in Appendix E.
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A\ CAUTION: This email originated from an external sender. Verify the source before opening links or
attachments. A\

HiJennifer,

My direct line is 02084748483.

| will be working tomorrow and off on Friday.

Regards,
Aarti

From: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>
Sent: 22 October 2025 13:30

To: Aarti Kaushal <Aarti.Kaushall @environment-agency.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: EPR/NP36997H/V005 - Former Mearclough House

Aarti

Would you be available to have a call to talk me through this please.

Thanks

Jennifer

Jennifer Stringer
She/Her

Technical Director

6-7 Lovers Walk,

Brighton, East Sussex,
BN1 6AH, United Kingdom
T +44 (0)1273 546 800

D +44 (0)1273 546 829

M +44 (0)7920 235499

E @rps.tetratech.com

Follow us on: rpsgroup.com | LinkedIn | Facebook | Instagram

You might notice we look a little different.
We’re rebranding to Tetra Tech in March 2026.
Click here to learn more

From: Aarti Kaushal <Aarti.Kaushall@environment-agency.gov.uk>
Sent: 21 October 2025 15:50
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

Hi Jennifer,

I hope you're well.

This application has been quite complex in terms of establishing which activity the site
falls under. As such, | escalated the matter to my Charges Lead for confirmation.

It has now been confirmed that, as the site is treating frag fluff, the following charges will
apply to the whole site:

® 1.16.12 - Physical treatment of non-hazardous waste (sub-variation): £7,137
® 1.16.16 — Metal recycling site — mixed metals (bespoke fee): £9,463

The charges for the other required management plans are as follows:

® 1.19.3 -Fire Prevention Plan (excluding farming installations) - £1,241

® 1.19.7 - Noise and Vibration Management Plan (excluding farming installations) —
£1,246

® 1.19.5 - Emissions Management Plan - £1,241

® Total Fee Required: £20,328

You have already paid £18,830 therefore the remaining balance to be paid is £1,498

Please let me know if you have any questions or need further clarification.
Kind regards,
Aarti

From: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>
Sent: 20 October 2025 15:34

To: Aarti Kaushal <Aarti.Kaushall@environment-agency.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: EPR/NP36997H/V005 - Former Mearclough House

Yes, however the only change is the removal of reference to WTS going forward. The
treatment process is as described.

Jennifer Stringer
She/Her

Technical Director

6-7 Lovers Walk,

Brighton, East Sussex,
BN1 6AH, United Kingdom
T +44 (0)1273 546 800

D +44 (0)1273 546 829

M +44 (0)7920 235499

E @rps.tetratech.com


mailto:jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com
mailto:Aarti.Kaushal1@environment-agency.gov.uk

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
Sent: 20 October 2025 15:26

To: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>
Subject: RE: EPR/NP3699ZH/V005 - Former Mearclough House

/\ CAUTION: This email originated from an external sender. Verify the source before opening links or
attachments. A\

Thank you, can you provide further information detailing the site activities in a non-
technical summary as there is now a change in the proposal.

Regards,
Aarti

From: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>
Sent: 20 October 2025 15:17

To: Aarti Kaushal <Aarti.Kaushall@environment-agency.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: EPR/NP3699ZH/V005 - Former Mearclough House

Hi Aarti

Yes all waste will be treated, see attached email. This does represent a change from
the basis set out in the application.

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
Sent: 20 October 2025 14:35

To: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>
Subject: FW: EPR/NP36997H/V005 - Former Mearclough House

/\ CAUTION: This email originated from an external sender. Verify the source before opening links or
attachments. A\

Hi Jennifer,

Thank you for confirming the below.

You mentioned waste will not be transferred (email received on 09/10 at 13:22), does this
apply to all non-hazardous waste? Just hazardous waste? Are you changing your facility
type from ‘non-hazardous waste transfer station’ to a ‘physical treatment of hazardous
waste’ facility?

If this is the case, then you need to submit a full non-technical summary of what your site
is intended to do/explain the variation?

Kind regards,
Aarti

From: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>
Sent: 20 October 2025 14:02

To: Aarti Kaushal <Aarti.Kaushall@environment-agency.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: EPR/NP36997H/V005 - Former Mearclough House

Hi Aarti

Please see below responses to your questions.

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
Sent: 20 October 2025 13:40

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

Apologies for the delay in progressing this application — I’ve been consulting internally
regarding the charges and site activities.

| just wanted to confirm exactly what’s happening on site, as this affects how your
activities are classified and explains why two fees have been applied.

If hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are being mixed (please refer Hazardous waste:
segregation and mixing - GOV.UK) — for example, both going through the trommel —then
the entire output is considered hazardous. That would change the type of activity and
permit required.

| had assumed both transfer and treatment activities were taking place, which is why two
fees were included. However, if hazardous and non-hazardous waste are being handled
completely separately, that may affect the classification.

Could you please confirm:

1. Are hazardous and non-hazardous wastes treated separately? Yes the wastes are
treated separately and not at the same time (see reference to information in the
application for Q3).

2. Isthe trommel only used for one type of waste at a time? Yes

Are there two trommels — one for haz — one for non haz? No
3. Arethere two separate processes on site — one for hazardous, one for non-

hazardous? Is the non hazardous still being transferred? No, the same equipment
will be used but it will either be used for hazardous or non-hazardous waste, not a
mixture of the wastes. See paragaphs 3.2.19-3.2.30 in the Supporting Information
document

Once | have this clarification, | can ensure the correct approach is applied.

Kind regards,

Aarti
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From: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>

Sent: 20 October 2025 10:15

To: Aarti Kaushal <Aarti.Kaushall@environment-agency.gov.uk>

Subject: RE: EPR/NP3699ZH/V005 - Former Mearclough House - AQMAU validation checks

Aarti

Just checking that this email doesn’t need a response as it was re-called.

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

Sent: 16 October 2025 12:48

To: Stringer, Jennifer <jennifer.stringer@rps.tetratech.com>

Subject: EPR/NP3699ZH/V005 - Former Mearclough House - AQMAU validation checks
Importance: High

/A CAUTION: This email originated from an external sender. Verify the source before opening links or
attachments. AN\

HiJennifer,

Re: EPR/NP3699ZH/V005 - Ellete Waste. Noise Impact Assessment Report. 794-ENV-
EPC-20047. 11 April 2025. RPS Group.

Sorry to chase, but I've just had a request from the noise team to request ‘Noise modelling
files in SoundPLAN format’.
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Would you mind sending the information over by the end of this week?

Reason
In line with EA guidance, this information must be submitted so that the EA is able to audit
the NIA report

Kind regards,

Aarti Kaushal
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